STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Richland County
Court of Common Pleas
Tanya A. Gee, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. **2019-000455**

RECEIVED

APR 15 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

JOHN M. MCINTYRE AND SILVER OAK LAND MANAGEMENT, LLC,

Respondents,

v.

SECURITIES COMMISSIONER OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Securities Commissioner

JONATHAN B. WILLIAMS
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

IAN P. WESCHLER
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar. No. 101422

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3680
Email: iweschler@scag.gov

CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN REACHING THE RESPONDENTS' DUE PROCESS ARGUMENTS, WHICH WERE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL BECAUSE THE RESPONDENTS ABANDONED THOSE CLAIMS BY FAILING TO RAISE THEM IN THEIR RULE 59(E), SCRPC, MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION?

- II. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE CONSTITUTION MANDATES THE PROMULGATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING RULES BY THE COMMISSIONER?

- III. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE SECURITIES ACT MANDATES THE PROMULGATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING RULES BY THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arose in the fall of 2012, when the Securities Division of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office received a complaint about Silver Oak Land Management, LLC ("Silver Oak"), and related entities, and Silver Oak's then general manager, John M. McIntyre ("McIntyre"). (App. 558). The complaint, by a Silver Oak investor, alleged that McIntyre was diverting funds from the company for his personal use. (App. 630). The Division sought testimony from Silver Oak and McIntyre during its investigation, but neither chose to comply with the Division's subpoena. (App. 6) Following its investigation, on April 19, 2013, the Securities Division exercised its authority under the South Carolina Uniform Securities Act of 2005 and issued an Order to Cease and Desist naming McIntyre and Silver Oak as Respondents (the "Cease and Desist Order"). (App. 5-13). In the Cease and Desist Order, the Securities Division alleged that the Respondents, jointly and severally, violated S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-501 (general fraud), for, among other things, using investor money to pay extravagant consulting fees to themselves; misappropriating money by diverting it to themselves and entities they controlled; and paying for various personal items while mislabeling those transactions in Respondents' accounting books. (App. 10).

Pursuant to the Securities Act, the Respondents timely availed themselves of their right to a hearing by following the procedure outlined in the Cease and Desist Order. (App. 1267). Following established practice, the Securities Commissioner appointed a hearing officer in the matter (the "Hearing Officer") and delegated to

him the authority to “take all actions he deems relevant or material to his recommending findings as to the matters alleged in the Order to Cease and Desist issued April 19, 2013, and his recommending appropriate action based on his findings.” (App. 1279). A hearing was held over four days: July 30, 2013, and October 1-3, 2013. During the course of the hearing, witnesses were examined and cross-examined by both parties, and extensive documentary evidence was introduced by both parties.

On May 6, 2014, the Hearing Officer recommended to the Securities Commissioner that he find the investments at issue to not be securities and, therefore, dismiss the Cease and Desist Order. (App. 14-35). The Securities Commissioner considered the Hearing Officer’s recommendation and rejected it. The Securities Commissioner found that the Hearing Officer applied the incorrect legal test for determining whether or not the investments at issue were securities. (App. 36-65). Following his own review of the record, the Securities Commissioner found that the membership interests at issue were investment contracts and thus securities under the Securities Act. The Securities Commissioner then returned the matter to the Hearing Officer and ordered the Hearing Officer to make a recommendation as to whether or not violations of S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-501 occurred in connection with an offer or sale of the securities at issue. The Hearing Officer subsequently issued a recommendation that found seventy-eight violations of § 35-1-501. (App. 66-78). The Securities Commissioner issued an order dated November 20, 2014, concurring with the Hearing Officer’s recommendation except

he reduced the number of violations to fifty-four, and he imposed a civil penalty of \$10,000 per violation, totaling \$540,000. (App. 79-90).

Respondents filed a Petition for Review, pursuant to the Securities Act, with the Richland County Court of Common Pleas on December 19, 2014. A hearing was held on April 17, 2015, before the Honorable Tonya A. Gee. Judge Gee affirmed the decision of the Securities Commissioner through an order filed on May 7, 2015. (App. 91-105). The Respondents subsequently filed a 59(e), SCRCR, motion for reconsideration, which Judge Gee denied on July 21, 2015. (App. 106). On August 27, 2015, the Respondents filed a notice of appeal with the Court of Appeals.

Subsequently, on November 24, 2015, the Beaufort County Grand Jury returned multiple true-billed indictments charging McIntyre with securities fraud and breach of trust with fraudulent intent. On December 14, 2016, McIntyre pled guilty to one count of breach of trust with fraudulent intent. (App. 2655-2670).

Arguments before the Court of Appeals were held on February 6, 2018. On October 17, 2018, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion reversing and remanding this matter to the circuit court. (App. 2671-2670). On November 1, 2018, the Securities Commissioner timely sought a rehearing by the Court of Appeals. (App. 2682-2693). The Court denied the Petition for Rehearing on February 19, 2019. This Petition for a Writ of Certiorari pursuant to Rule 242, SCACR, follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals reached an issue that it was in error to consider, and then compounded that error by imposing the requirement of the promulgation of administrative hearing rules by the Securities Commissioner, which neither the Constitution nor the Securities Act requires. In order to correct these errors, the Securities Commissioner respectfully requests that this Court grant certiorari.

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN REACHING THE RESPONDENTS' DUE PROCESS ARGUMENTS, WHICH WERE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL BECAUSE THE RESPONDENTS ABANDONED THOSE CLAIMS BY FAILING TO RAISE THEM IN THEIR RULE 59(E), SCRPC, MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

When the Respondents' sought judicial review of the Securities Commissioner's final order, they alleged that the hearing process deprived them of their right to due process. In its opinion below, the Court of Appeals agreed. It erred in reaching that issue. The Respondents did not raise a due process argument in their Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion for reconsideration before Judge Gee, and therefore, they failed to preserve this issue for appeal. *Summersell v. S.C. Dep't of Pub. Safety*, 337 S.C. 19, 22, 522 S.E.2d 144, 146 (1999) (citing *White v. Wilkerson*, 328 S.C. 179, 493 S.E.2d 345 (1997) ("If the issue is not raised in a post-trial motion, it is error for the appellate court to consider it."). The Respondents initially raised the issue of due process in their petition for judicial review of the Securities Commissioner's Order before the Richland County Court of Common Pleas. (App. 107-117). According to the circuit court, this argument was wholly unsupported and relied solely on "bald conclusions." (App. 98). As a result, Judge

Gee's Order Affirming the Decision of the Securities Commissioner found the Respondents' due process argument to have been abandoned, citing *Solomon v. City Realty Co.*, 262 S.C. 198, 201, 203 S.E.2d 435, 436 (1974) (a "bald conclusion is not manifestly correct and leaves unargued the error assigned by this exception. Under the familiar rule, it is deemed abandoned.") (internal citations omitted).

After the issuance of the Order, the Respondents timely filed a Rule 59(e), SCRC, Petition, but they made no mention of due process, and therefore, the Respondents left this due process argument and bald conclusions abandoned in the circuit court. The record does not include any suggestion that the Respondents asked for reconsideration of the circuit court's decision on their claims of a due process violation.¹ On the contrary, the Respondents' Rule 59(e) motion shows that the Respondents laid out detailed reasons they believed Judge Gee should alter or amend her decision, but they did not raise the issue of due process and offered nothing to counter the circuit court's conclusion that the Respondents' arguments were wholly unsupported, relied on bald conclusions, and had been abandoned. Only at the Court of Appeals did the Respondents attempt to resurrect this issue. When, as is the case here, a court's "review of the record establishes that an issue is not preserved, then [the court] should not reach it." *Atlantic Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012). The case law from this Court is clear that after the Respondents failed to preserve their due

¹ The Record does reflect a summary denial of the Respondents' Rule 59(e) Motion. (App. 106).

process argument, the Court of Appeals erred in considering the question. *Id.* at 323, 730 S.E.2d at 285 (“[W]e should follow our longstanding precedent and resolve the issue on preservation grounds when it clearly is unpreserved.”)

By reaching and ruling on the Respondents’ unpreserved arguments, the Court of Appeals erred, and the Securities Commissioner respectfully requests this Court grant certiorari to correct this error.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE CONSTITUTION MANDATES THE PROMULGATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING RULES BY THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER.

The South Carolina Constitution, Article I, Section 22, sets forth the requirements with which an administrative hearing must comply in order to ensure that a person is afforded his right to due process, including “due notice and an opportunity to be heard.” The Court of Appeals erred in ruling that Article I, Section 22 requires the Securities Commissioner to promulgate administrative hearing rules. This is simply not the case. Rather, this Court did not determine that such a requirement was imposed on the Securities Commissioner when it reviewed an identical case in *Majors v. S.C. Sec. Comm’n*, 373 S.C. 153, 644 S.E.2d 710 (2007). In *Majors*, the appellant alleged that his right to due process was violated by the Securities Commissioner. This Court rejected *Majors*’ argument, instead determining that the Securities Commissioner’s hearing process afforded the appellant his constitutional right to due process. *Majors*, 373 S.C at 162, 644 S.E.2d at 715. This Court reached that opinion after a careful analysis of an

identical hearing process, and its aftermath, which, akin to the present matter, included a report and recommendation to the Securities Commissioner, followed by an appeal, first to the circuit court and then to the Court of Appeals.² This is precisely the process that occurred during and after the Respondents' hearing. Despite this Court's ruling in *Majors*, the Court of Appeals ignored *Majors* in its opinion even though *Majors* is in direct conflict with its opinion. This was error.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals decision, due process requirements imposed on administrative hearings are not technical, and no particular form or procedure is necessary. *In re Vora*, 354 S.C. 590, 595, 582 S.E.2d 413, 416 (2003) (citations omitted). For an administrative proceeding to comply with Article I, Section 22, it must include "(1) adequate notice, (2) adequate opportunity for a hearing, (3) the right to introduce evidence, and (4) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses." *Id.* In the hearing, the Respondents were afforded each of these requirements. In accordance with the Securities Act, the Respondents were provided notice of their right to a hearing in the Order to Cease and Desist. (App. 12-13). The Respondents exercised their right to a hearing, and a four-day hearing followed, which included a two month break between the first and second hearing dates, that afforded the Respondents the opportunity to further refine their case. (App. 123).

² *Majors* continued his appeal to the United States Supreme Court, which denied his Petitions for a Writ of Certiorari and Rehearing. *Majors v. S.C. Sec. Comm'n*, 552 U.S. 975 (2007); *Majors v. S.C. Sec. Comm'n*, 552 U.S. 1133 (2008).

During the hearing, the Respondents were able to subpoena witnesses, examine and cross-examine witnesses, introduce evidence, and present clearly and fully their case before the Hearing Officer. In addition, the Respondents were well aware that the preponderance of the evidence standard of proof, which is generally applicable in administrative hearings under Supreme Court precedent, was applied in the hearing. *See Anonymous (M-156-90) v. State Board of Medical Examiners*, 329 S.C. 496 S.E.2d 17 (1998). As a result of this process, the Respondents were provided “notice and opportunity to be heard at some point before” the Commissioner made his “final decision.” *Ross v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 328 S.C. 51, 68, 492 S.E.2d 62, 71 (1997). Additionally, S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-609 provided the means for the Respondents to seek judicial review of the Securities Commissioner’s Order, and the circuit court was free to consider issues of law without any deference to the Securities Commissioner.

This was a careful, deliberate process which, like *Majors*, even in the absence of promulgated hearing rules, afforded the Respondents “due notice and an opportunity to be heard” required by the Constitution. The Court of Appeals erred in ruling otherwise. *See United States v. Lovasco*, 431 U.S. 783, 790 (1977) (“Judges are not free, in defining due process, to impose on law enforcement officials our personal and private notions of fairness and to disregard the limits that bind judges in their judicial function.” (internal quotations omitted)).

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE SECURITIES ACT MANDATES THE PROMULGATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING RULES BY THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals reasoned that the Securities Act requires the Securities Commissioner to promulgate rules for the conduct of administrative hearings. It does not. In fact, the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-604(b) includes the constitutionally-mandated requirement of notice and opportunity for a hearing and is intended to “*provide due process protections for persons against whom an order . . . is issued.*” S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-604 (Supp. 2017) S.C. Reporter’s cmt. 2 (emphasis added). Further, the use of “may” in the Securities Act means simply “may,” leaving the decision of whether to promulgate rules of procedure to the Securities Commissioner. *State v. Wilson*, 274 S.C. 352, 356, 264 S.E.2d 414, 416 (1980) (“The use of the word “may” signifies permission and generally means that the action spoken of is optional or discretionary.”) The drafters of the Securities Act were well aware of the difference between permissive and mandatory instructions to the Securities Commissioner. For example, in Section 35-1-605, the Securities Act uses both “may” and “must” as in subsection (a)(1)-(4) (*may* issue orders, rules, definitions, fees); subsection (c) (*may* require the filing of financial statements by certain registrants and notice filers); subsection (d) (*may* provide interpretive opinions); and (f) (hearings *must* be public).

Further, § 35-1-605(a)(1) leaves in the Securities Commissioner’s discretion whether or not rules, including rules of procedure, should be promulgated, and

explains that he may adopt rules that he considers to be “necessary or appropriate.” With this delegation, the General Assembly was acting consistently with the principles of administrative law in passing an enabling statute and then granting the administrative agency the authority to determine whether additional rules would be necessary or appropriate to carry out its statutory mandate. Moreover, in interpreting their statutes, administrative agencies are granted wide discretion. *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 34, 766 S.E.2d 707, 718 (2014) (“[W]e give deference to agencies both because they have been entrusted with administering their statutes and regulations and because they have unique skill and expertise in administering those statutes and regulations.”)

In reviewing an agency’s implementation of enabling legislation, South Carolina courts defer to an “agency interpretation unless it is arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute.” *Id.* at 34–35, 766 S.E.2d at 718 (citing *Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Nat. Res. Def. Council, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 837, 844 (1984) (internal quotations omitted)). In relying on the due process protections established by the Securities Act rather than promulgating procedural hearing rules, the Securities Commissioner did not act in an arbitrary or capricious manner.

In reading into the hearing process a requirement of promulgated procedural rules, the Court of Appeals imposed a requirement on the Securities Commissioner beyond that which the Constitution, the Securities Act, and this Court require. The