THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAY 06 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Tanya A. Gee
Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-40-07917

Appellate Case No. 2019-000455

John M. McIntyre and Silver Oak Land
Management LLC,

Petitioners

v.

Securities Commissioner of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Cory E. Manning
Blake T. Williams
Caroline D. Gimenez
NELSON MULLINS RILEY &
SCARBOROUGH LLP
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
803.799.2000

Robert V. Mathison, Jr.
Mathison & Mathison
Post Office Box 5271

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

After hearing the parties' various arguments, the circuit court issued its Order. The Order specifically addressed and ruled on Respondents' due process argument. The circuit court acknowledged that Respondents contended that their due process rights had been violated because "the Attorney General failed to adopt or promulgate any rules of procedure or evidence with regard to the administrative proceeding." (Order, App. 96.) The court explained that it found this argument "unavailing." (*Id.*) The court premised its conclusion on its determination

that S.C. Code Ann. § 36-1-605 only provided that the Securities Commissioner “may” promulgate rules, and thus did not require him to do so. (*Id.*, App. 97.) The circuit court further explained that although Respondents had asserted error due to the failure to adopt rules, they had not shown any prejudice and thus did not meet their burden of proving reversible error. (*Id.*, App. 98.)

Therefore, the due process issue was undoubtedly preserved for appellate review. Respondents raised the issue and the circuit court directly ruled on it. Respondents were not obligated to file a Rule 59(e) motion in light of this ruling, as such a motion is only required in the event the circuit court *fails to rule on an issue in the first instance*. See *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733. What matters for preservation purposes is whether a ruling was made with sufficient specificity, not whether the ruling was favorable. The circuit court’s statement that Respondents failed to “cite to any authority for their argument and instead rely solely on bald conclusions” represented the circuit court’s view of the *merits* and *strength* of Respondent’s argument—it had no bearing on whether the argument was actually raised to the court for consideration.

Finally, although the circuit court utilized an odd turn of phrase by stating that Respondents’ reliance on “bald conclusions” meant they “have abandoned this issue on appeal,” this was not the true essence of the circuit court’s finding.¹ The circuit court in no way

¹ The circuit court’s reliance on *Solomon v. City Realty Co.*, 262 S.C. 198, 201, 203 S.E.2d 435, 436 (1974) to support this finding was misplaced. In *Solomon*, the appellant only addressed the issue in question in one sentence in the brief, which the court found was a “bald conclusion.” Thus, the court found that the issue was abandoned since it was left “unargued.” Therefore, *Solomon* is distinguishable since the circuit court here never suggested that Respondents failed to sufficiently raise the rule promulgation issue. The circuit court was commenting on what it viewed as the lack of *merit* behind the argument rather than a lack of *effort* by Respondents to make said argument (which is what *Solomon* concerned).

suggested that Respondents withdrew or failed to present argument on the rule promulgation issue. Rather, this statement related to the circuit court's view that Respondents lack of cited authority on the rule promulgation argument rendered it conclusory. Again, however, this does not support that the issue was not sufficiently raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court. Regardless of the circuit court's view of the merits, it sufficiently passed on the due process question presented and therefore the issue is preserved for appeal. Finally, even if this statement cast doubt on the preservation question, those doubts should be resolved in favor of finding the issue preserved.

Respondents sufficiently preserved their due process argument for appellate review, and the Court of Appeals properly determined that Respondents' due process rights were violated by the Securities Commissioner's failure to promulgate rules for the hearing process. This Court should deny certiorari.

II. The Court of Appeals properly determined that the Securities Commissioner's failure to promulgate hearing rules violated Article I, Section 22 of the South Carolina constitution.

The Securities Commissioner primarily relies on *Majors v. S.C. Secs. Comm'n*, 373 S.C. 153, 644 S.E.2d 710 (2007) in attempting to overcome this conclusion. The Securities Commissioner's characterization of *Majors* as "identical" to the present case, however, is simply incorrect. First, the *Majors* Court was examining the pre-2005 version of the Securities Act, and the rule promulgation directive was not before the Court in that case. *See id.* at 159, 644 S.E.2d at 714 (examining the version of the Securities Act in the 2004 Supplement to the South Carolina Code, which was how the statute "read at the time the matter arose").

Additionally, the due process argument advanced in *Majors* was wholly different from Respondents' argument here. *Majors* addressed whether the "initial cease and desist order, prior

to a hearing, was permissible.” *Id.* at 160, 644 S.E.2d at 714. The Court likened the Securities Commissioner’s power to issue a cease and desist order pending a hearing to this Court’s power to issue an order of interim suspension of an attorney. *Id.* at 162, 644 S.E.2d at 715. Thus, it found that the petitioners were afforded due process, because the initial cease and desist order provided them with a right to a subsequent hearing. *Id.* Therefore, although *Majors* did concern a proceeding under the Securities Act, the procedural due process question before it was in a very different context than what is presented here. *Majors* does not conflict with the Court of Appeals’s decision here as the Securities Commissioner suggests.²

Furthermore, the Securities Commissioner’s reliance on *In re Vora*, 354 S.C. 590, 582 S.E.2d 413 (2003) is also misplaced. The four elements specified in that case are the “*minimum*” due process requirements. *Id.* at 595, 582 S.E.2d at 416 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals properly found that in this instance, the General Assembly determined that procedural due process necessitated more than the minimum requirements. The General Assembly intended that the Commissioner would “promulgate rules (*i.e.*, a ‘mode of procedure’), after notice and comment, before holding administrative hearings.” *McIntyre*, 425 S.C. at 448, 823 S.E.2d at 197. In any event, the Securities Commissioner’s contention that no due process violation occurred because these minimum procedural hurdles were met ignores the applicable standard. The fundamental requirements of due process include “notice, *an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way*, and judicial review.” *Harbit v. City of Charleston*, 382 S.C. 383,

² The discussion in *Majors* about the subsequent procedures afforded following the initial cease and desist order was *dicta*. See *Nash v. Tindall Corp.*, 375 S.C. 36, 40-41, 650 S.E.2d 81, 83 (Ct. App. 2007) (“*Dicta* or, as it is also known, *dictum* ‘is a statement on a matter not necessarily involved in the case, and is not binding as authority. *Dictum* is an opinion expressed by a court, but which, not being necessarily involved in the case, is not the court’s decision.’” (quoting 21 C.J.S. *Courts* § 227 (2006))).

393, 675 S.E.2d 776, 781 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasis added). Where, like here, the due process defects are structural and inherent in the process itself, they cannot be harmless error and *must* be reversed. *State v. Mouzon*, 326 S.C. 199, 204, 485 S.E.2d 918, 921 (1997) (explaining that “structural defects in the constitution of the trial mechanism . . . defy analysis by harmless error standards”).

The Court of Appeals properly found that the Securities Commissioner violated Article I, § 22’s guarantee of due process. Therefore, this Court should deny certiorari.

III. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the Securities Commissioner violated Respondents’ procedural due process rights by failing to promulgate hearing rules.

In the Securities Act, the General Assembly authorized possible methods for the Securities Commissioner to utilize in order to regulate securities. Once such option permitted the Securities Commissioner to pursue civil relief. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 35-1-603 and 604. The General Assembly did not provide for the rules to implement such civil proceedings, but instead allowed the Securities Commissioner to promulgate rules for a civil proceeding in the event he elected to implement such a proceeding. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-605(a)(1). The Court of Appeals correctly found that because the Securities Commissioner failed to promulgate such rules but nevertheless pursued civil relief against Respondents, the Securities Commissioner violated Respondents’ due process rights.

The relevant provision of the South Carolina Code provides that:

(a) The Securities Commissioner may:

(1) issue forms and orders and, after notice and comment, may adopt and amend rules necessary or appropriate *to carry out this chapter* and may repeal rules, including rules and forms governing registration statements, applications, notice filings, reports, and other records. . . .

S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-605(a)(1) (emphasis added). The plain language of section 35-1-605(a)(1) supports that the Securities Commissioner could not initiate a civil relief action under the Securities Act until the Securities Commissioner promulgated the rules for such proceedings. This interpretation has been recognized by leading South Carolina scholars addressing the civil enforcement process:

As of July 2005, the Securities Commissioner has not proposed new regulations in anticipation of the January 1, 2006 effective date of the S.C. Securities Act. The writer understands that the present intention of the Commissioner is to propose new regulations *to implement the new Act*

Gregory B. Adams, James R. Burkhard, *et al.*, *South Carolina Corp. Practice Manual*, 2d., Ch. 16, p. 366 n. 8 (2005).

The permissive “may” in section 35-1-605(a)(1) does not alter this result and does not excuse a failure to promulgate rules. Rather, the inclusion of “may” must be read in conjunction with the “to carry out this chapter” language also included in section 35-1-605(a)(1)—demonstrating that the General Assembly allowed the Securities Commissioner to create the rules of a civil proceeding in the event the Securities Commissioner elected to implement such a proceeding.

The Securities Commissioner contends that the agency’s interpretation of the statute should be afforded deference, relying on *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 766 S.E.2d 707 (2014). As the *Kiawah* Court acknowledged, however, this deference does not apply where the statute or regulation directly speaks to the issue. *Id.* at 32, 766 S.E.2d at 717. In that instance, the court must utilize the clear meaning. *Id.* Additionally, if the statute or regulation is silent or ambiguous, the agency interpretation may be afforded deference only if the interpretation is “worthy of deference.” *Id.* at 33, 766 S.E.2d at

717. “Compelling reasons” rendering the interpretation unworthy of deference exist where the interpretation is “arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to statute.” *Id.* at 34-35, 766 S.E.2d at 718.

The Court of Appeals properly found that the plain meaning of the statute contemplated the promulgation of rules. Additionally, the Court of Appeals rightly determined that the Securities Commissioner’s position resulted in an arbitrary and capricious outcome. Therefore, the Securities Commissioner’s view was not entitled to deference here.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Respondents’ general procedural due process rights were violated by the Securities Commissioner’s failure to promulgate rules for the civil proceeding. Thus, the Court should deny certiorari.

IV. Respondents’ other appellate grounds are additional sustaining grounds supporting reversal of the circuit court and, therefore, the denial of certiorari.

A. The circuit court failed to properly review the factual findings of the Securities Commissioner under the standard mandated by section 35-1-609 of the South Carolina Code.

The South Carolina code contemplates that the Securities Commissioner’s factual findings are conclusive in review by the circuit court provided they are “supported by competent, material, and substantial evidence.” S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-609. This contemplates a two part test in the circuit court’s judicial review: (1) a determination of whether the Securities Commissioner’s facts are supported by competent evidence and, if so, (2) whether that evidence is substantial.

Here, the circuit court failed to perform the threshold determination as to the competency of the evidence before the Securities Commissioner. The circuit court relied on the testimony of four witnesses (Sandra Matthews, Phil Hartman, Paul Finn, and James Paris) and the bank records of each LLC to find evidence existed to support the violations of section 35-1-501 found

by the Securities Commissioner. (Circuit Court Order p. 13, App. 103.) As Respondents detailed in their merits briefing to the Court of Appeals, during the hearing they objected to the admissibility of each item listed by the circuit court and, specifically, those portions of testimony or evidence related to the purported violations of section 35-1-501. (See Br. of Appellant at pp. 8-9, App. 1195-96.)

Despite these objections, the circuit court did not determine whether such evidence was properly admitted by the hearing officer. By failing to adhere to section 35-1-609 and verify whether the Securities Commissioner relied upon competent evidence, the circuit court erred as a matter of law. Therefore, this represents an additional sustaining ground for reversal.

B. The membership interests in the LLCs do not qualify as securities because the members retained ultimate control over the LLCs.

An investment contract qualifies as a security when there has been (1) an investment of money, (2) in a common enterprise, and (3) with an expectation of profits to be derived primarily from the efforts of a person other than the investor. *Majors v. S.C. Secs. Comm'n*, 373 S.C. 153, 163-67, 644 S.E.2d 710, 716-18 (2007) (relying upon *Secs. & Exch. Comm'n v. J.W. Howey Co.*, 328 U.S. 293 (1946)).

As the circuit court noted, this case hinged on the third factor of the test. The Securities Commissioner and circuit court found the third factor satisfied based on the LLC operating agreements and testimony (over the objection of Appellants), finding that the members lacked control over the management of the LLCs, and as a result, expected profit from the efforts of Appellants. However, this finding failed to account for the fact that the members possessed the ultimate control over the LLC by operation of law that allowed the members to remove any manager with or without cause and to dissolve the LLC without manager consent. See S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-404(b)(3)(i) (setting forth the power of the members to remove the manager of an

LLC by simple majority vote); S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-801 (allowing the members to dissolve the LLC by vote).

Courts recognize that when a member of a manager-managed LLC possesses such ultimate power over the manager and the LLC, then the membership interests do not qualify as securities. *See Great Lakes Chem. Corp v. Monsanto Co.*, 96 F. Supp. 2d 376 (D. Del. 2000) (applying the *Howey* test and finding that despite the LLC's members having no authority to directly manage the LLC, their power to remove any manager with or without cause and to dissolve the company meant the membership interests did not qualify as an investment contract).

Because the members of each Silver Oak LLC possessed the same power to remove Respondents as manager and dissolve the LLC as the member in *Great Lakes*, the membership interests could not qualify as securities under the South Carolina test. The circuit court's finding to the contrary was in error. Therefore, this is an additional sustaining ground supporting reversal.

C. Even if the membership interest qualified as a security, the evidence does not support a violation of section 35-1-501 because the conduct did not occur at the time of the offer, sale, or purchase of the LLC interests.

The general fraud statute in the Securities Act provides that:

It is unlawful for a person, *in connection with the offer, sale, or purchase of a security*, directly or indirectly:

- (1) to employ a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud;
- (2) to make an untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or
- (3) to engage in an act, practice, or course of business that operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon another person.

S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-501 (emphasis added). The plain language of this provision establishes that the statute is limited in its application to conduct occurring in connection with the offer, sale, or purchase of a security. The placing of the limiting language immediately after the “[i]t is unlawful for a person” signifies the General Assembly’s intent to modify, qualify, or limit violations to conduct occurring with the offer, sale, or purchase of a security. *See, e.g., Total Env’tl. Sols., Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Servs. Comm’n*, 351 S.C. 175, 181-82, 568 S.E.2d 365, 369 (2002) (finding a subsequent phrase in the statute modified a preceding phrase and defined the scope of the statute).

Section 35-1-501, therefore, requires a finding that the conduct occur “in connection with the offer, sale, or purchase of a security” in order to violate the statute.³ The circuit court, however, erroneously upheld the Securities Commissioner’s finding that management activities occurring after the offer, sale, or purchase of the LLC membership interest supported a finding that Respondents violated the general fraud provision of the Securities Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-501. (Circuit Court Order p. 13, App. 103.) The Securities Commissioner and circuit court made no finding linking the conduct at issue to the offer, sale, or purchase of the LLC membership interest at issue in this matter. Imposing penalties without such a finding violates the rules of statutory construction. This represents another sustaining ground for the Court of Appeals’s reversal of the circuit court.

³ South Carolina’s securities act was modeled on the Uniform Securities Act of 2002, which contains a similar “purchase or sale of security” language in Rule 10b-5. *See* 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. Courts have recognized the temporal limitation and construed this language to require that “[i]n order to establish a claim under Rule 10b-5, [the party] must prove fraud in connection with the purchase of securities.” *Robinson v. Glynn*, 349 F.3d 166, 169 (4th Cir. 2003); *see also Singer v. Reali*, 883 F.3d 425, 438 (4th Cir. 2018) (noting that Rule 10b-5 acts to “protect the integrity of the market in securities and prohibit fraud *in connection with the purchase or sale of a security*” (emphasis added)).

D. No substantial evidence exists in the record because the evidence relied on by the Securities Commissioner and circuit court was inadmissible.

The factual findings of the Securities Commissioner will only be upheld by the circuit court when substantial evidence supports such findings. S.C. Code Ann. § 35-1-609 (“The findings of the Securities Commissioner as to the facts, if supported by competent, material, and substantial evidence, are conclusive”). As Respondents detailed in their briefing before the Court of Appeals, the evidence cited by the Securities Commissioner and circuit court was inadmissible on various grounds or did not have any relevance to establish a violation of section 35-1-501. (See Br. of Appellant at p. 21, App. 1208.) As a result, the testimony and evidence should have been excluded, and, once excluded, there was no competent evidence to prove a violation of section 35-1-501. This represents yet another additional sustaining ground supporting reversal.

E. These additional sustaining grounds support that the Court of Appeals properly reversed the circuit court.

Each of these additional sustaining grounds offers a separate and distinct reason why the circuit court’s decision should be reversed. Therefore, in light of the overwhelming support for reversal, the Court of Appeals’s decision was proper and should be permitted to stand.

Conclusion

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